

Nova Southeastern University

NSUWorks

Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice

2023

Assessing Organizational Policy: Preferred Practices for Regulating Vaping in the Work Environment

Ayesha Temeka Kirk

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd

Part of the Educational Leadership Commons, and the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

Share Feedback About This Item

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Assessing Organizational Policy: Preferred Practices for Regulating Vaping in the Work Environment

by Ayesha Kirk

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Nova Southeastern University 2023

Approval Page

This applied dissertation was submitted by Ayesha Kirk under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

Mary Lynn Vogel, EdD Committee Chair

Lisa Carbone, EdD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Dean

Statement of Original Work

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student Conduct and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Ayesha T. Kirk Name

November 26, 2023 Date

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank, praise, honor, and give all glory to my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for I cease to exist without Him.

To my husband, Ivan; son, Imery; daughter, Iyanna; family; and friends, I am so thankful, privileged, and honored for having you in my life. Thank you for your support and for keeping me in line through this journey. Most of all, thank you for loving all parts of me unconditionally! I love you all more!

I want to thank my dissertation chair, Dr. Mary Lynn Vogel, for her faith and for keeping me lifted, accountable, and encouraged during this process. It is a blessing to have someone with all the knowledge and tools you need but a bonus to keep you prayed up and lifted in faith simultaneously. Through our conversations, meetings, and countless hours of discussions and edits, I learned a lifetime of lessons from you. Your support kept me on task and redirected me on my journey when I wanted to give up. Thank you!

I am ever so grateful for the entire educational support team at the Fischler College of Education and the phenomenal Nova Southeastern Writing Center, especially Gary Lewis, who went above and beyond the call of duty.

Abstract

Assessing Organizational Policy: Preferred Practices for Regulating Vaping in the Work Environment. Ayesha Kirk, 2023: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Keywords: employee health, vaping policy, employee smoking policy, change management

Employee vaping negatively affects organizations in terms of costs, productivity, employee health, and workplace safety. The purpose of this qualitative dissertation study was to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. Open-ended questionnaires with 18 human resources administrators, combined with a literature review, yielded data on best practices for organizational policies regulating vaping in the work environment.

The data collected in this qualitative dissertation study were extracted from a structured survey questionnaire comprising 16 questions about vaping and tobacco usage in the workplace. The findings demonstrated that vaping and the use of tobacco products in the workplace was normal in work environments with designated areas for smoking but not typical in workplaces with tobacco-free campuses. Throughout the study, the manner in which employee vaping in the workplace negatively influenced businesses was highlighted as well as strategies that could be utilized to reduce the rate of vaping in the workplace.

Table of Contents

	Page
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Setting of the Study	8
Researcher's Role	8
Definition of Terms	9
Purpose of the Study	10
Chapter 2: Literature Review	11
Theoretical Framework	11
Phenomenon of Vaping Defined	14
History of Vaping	
Incidence of Vaping	
Addiction to Vaping	
Impact of Vaping on the Organization	
Organizational Preferred Practices and Policies Regarding Vaping	
Summary of Literature Review	
Research Questions	
Chapter 3: Methodology	27
Aim of the Study	
Qualitative Research Approach	
Participants	
Data Collection Tool	
Procedures	
Data Analysis	
Ethical Considerations	
Trustworthiness	
Potential Research Bias	
Limitations	
	41
Chapter 4: Findings	12
Research Question 1: Benefits and Barriers to Workplace Vaping	
	10
Regulations	
Research Question 2: Workplace Policies Providing Penalties or Incentiv	/es40
Research Question 3: Inclusion of Employee Health in Organizational	17
Mission	
Research Question 4: Employee Wellness Programs	
Summary	
Charter 5. Discussion	50
Chapter 5: Discussion	
Overview of the Study	
Implications and Findings	
Conclusion	55

Limitations	58
Suggestions for Future Research	59
Researcher's Next Steps	
References	64
Appendix Human Resources Administrator Questionnaire on Vaping Regulations	75
Tables	
1 Research Questions 1–2 and Related Questionnaire Items	33

1 Research Questions 1–2 and Related Questionnane riens	
2 Research Questions 3–4 and Related Questionnaire Items	

Chapter 1: Introduction

In 2007, Chinese corporations began commercially marketing electronic nicotinedelivery systems (also known as vaping devices) in the United States as aids for smoking cessation; such devices include electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) or similar products (Denardo & Rome, 2019). Alexander (2023) argued that vaping is a weighty public health issue and a noteworthy risk for cardiovascular disease and cancer; vaping devices are dangerous to health. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2021b) reported the occurrence of 2,807 injuries related to e-cigarette or vaping product useassociated lung injuries (EVALI). Vaping is the process of inhaling a liquid vaporized substance through a handheld device (CDC, 2021a). The inhaled liquid contains various substances, such as nicotine, tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) cannabinoid (CBD) oils, and other substances, flavorings, and additives (Denardo & Rome, 2019). Furthermore, the CDC (2021b) investigated the occurrence of vitamin E acetate, in vaping products; this additive may interfere with normal lung functioning when inhaled. Most e-cigarettes contain high concentrations of nicotine and other carcinogens, which are unsafe and detrimental to the health of the user and bystanders alike (Denardo & Rome, 2019). The American Cancer Society (2021) reported some e-cigarettes sold in the United States have higher nicotine content than e-cigarettes sold internationally. Furthermore, researchers for the American Cancer Society warned youth and young adults are more predisposed to brain developmental concerns and becoming addicted to these devices. Moreover, vaping negatively impacts bystanders, much like secondhand smoke (Denardo & Rome, 2019). Romberg et al. (2021) stated that vaping in the workplace decreases productivity of both the employee who vapes and those who do not vape. Through

1

negative effects on health, vaping by employees affects organizations, requiring potential policies to decrease vaping use at the workplace.

Statement of the Problem

The problem addressed by this study is the prevalence of employee vaping and its adverse impact on organizations, including rising costs, diminished productivity, employee health issues, and the lack of regulatory guidance for preferred workplace policies (Asay et al., 2016; Mache et al., 2019; Romberg et al., 2021; Tabuchi & Colwell, 2016). The negative effects on organizational budgets, productivity, and health are described in the following sections. Federal and state laws regarding smoking regulations have changed over time. For instance, Yost and Fiester (2015) asserted federal smoking regulations did not specifically address e-cigarettes at the city and state levels; therefore, organizations had not developed policies specific to vaping. As of June 2023, legislation was adopted by 27 states and the District of Columbia, requiring nonhospitality workplaces to be completely smoke-free (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2023). These statewide comprehensive smoke-free laws protect 58.7% of the U.S. population (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2023). State policies vary. Some states ban e-cigarettes in the same areas smoking is banned; others limit the ban on vaping to childcare centers, schools, and state government buildings (Nagele-Piazza, 2019).

Phenomenon of Interest

Ranpara et al. (2021) stated vaping and vaping exposure are common in workplaces within the United States, and employees, inclusive of nonusers, reported decline in their productivity because of workplace vaping. The health risks of vaping to users and bystanders alike create problems for organizations. Vaping directly and indirectly affects employee health and workplace safety (Tabuchi & Colwell, 2016). According to Asay et al. (2016), organizations may encounter expenses associated with absenteeism among employees who experience chronic diseases or unhealthy behaviors. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2018) report indicated health risks in the workplace are particularly high for vulnerable populations such as pregnant women and people with respiratory disorders like asthma. Safety concerns related to vaping may create a hostile work environment (Romberg et al., 2021). From 2009 to 2016, U.S. hospital emergency departments reported 195 e-cigarette explosions and burn injuries, resulting in researchers for the U.S. Fire Administration (2017) recommending banning e-cigarette devices from the workplace to eliminate risk posed by device malfunctions. Health care professionals suggested the most critical factor in evaluating employees for EVALI is to ask if they recently utilized vaping products or ecigarettes (CDC, 2021b).

Employees vaping in the work environment decrease organizational productivity (Mache et al., 2019). Keane et al. (2017) studied the significance of vaping as a social practice. The authors discovered direct and indirect impacts on the organization as a result of the problems associated with vaping in the workplace. Romberg et al. (2021) warned that employee vaping is disruptive to the organization; during an 8-hour shift, four 15-min smoke breaks equate to 1 hour the employee is not working. Mache et al. (2019) explained smokers experience longer healing times and additional time out of work during flu seasons. Organizations are negatively impacted due to revenue losses associated with tobacco and tobacco-replacement products, such as vaping (Karambelkar & Bhattacharya, 2017).

To address the dangers and negative effects of vaping in the workplace, Mache et al. (2019) noted effective interventions may lead to reduced absenteeism, increased productivity, and fewer conflicts between employees who use vaping devices and those who do not. For instance, the U.S. Fire Administration (2017) recommended banning vaping devices from the workplace entirely. Organizational leaders are tasked with managing finances, ensuring employee well-being and safety, and meeting production goals (Mendes et al., 2016). Romberg et al. (2021) stated comprehensive policies aimed at preventing workplace vaping are required to protect employees; hence, research is needed to inform effective workplace policies related to vaping.

Background and Justification

Vaping-related injuries, termed EVALI, had affected more than 2,500 patients across all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and Puerto Rico as of January 2020 (Werner et al., 2020). Moreover, 52 deaths had been reported across 25 states and the District of Columbia as of December 12, 2019 (Blount et al., 2020). The median reported age of those who survived EVALI was 23, whereas the median age of those who died was 45 (Werner et al., 2020). As of 2020, Florida had reported up to 149 deaths or hospitalizations from EVALI; Tennessee, Virginia, Maryland, and North Carolina each had reported up to 99 cases (CDC, 2020a). Alabama, Mississippi, Louisiana, Georgia, and South Carolina each reported up to 49 cases (CDC, 2020a).

EVALI are present across all demographics of e-cigarette users. The CDC (2021a, 2021b) cautioned the nicotine content in electronic nicotine-delivery systems (vaping devices) is addictive and deadly to fetus development. The CDC (2021b) warned nicotine

exposure is detrimental to brain development in adolescence and continues into the mid-20s. Denardo and Rome (2019) discovered electronic nicotine-delivery systems research is emerging rapidly, and utilizing these devices is harmful. Furthermore, Denardo and Rome warned nicotine and other substances are a gateway to other youth addictions. Agustin et al. (2018) as well as Denardo and Rome agreed vaping attracts young adults as they may customize and reuse these devices, making vaping a cheaper alternative to traditional smoking.

Organizational policies decreasing vaping would effectively decrease the occurrence of EVALI resulting from exposure in the workplace (Mendes et al., 2016). The American Cancer Society (2021) explained the most effective way to reduce the dangers associated with e-cigarettes is to quit using e-cigarettes and to avoid using any other tobacco products. Furthermore, the American Cancer Society warned without urgent and effective public health action, e-cigarettes will lead to a new generation of nicotine-addicted individuals. Wold et al. (2022) stated that the toxicity of e-cigarette vapor continues to be poorly understood. Based on this, the organizational impact of employees who use e-cigarette devices and tobacco-related products in the workplace is not fully understood.

The establishment of new policies calls for change management to implement such policies effectively. In limiting the use of vaping devices, different interventions or initiatives are required. One such initiative is the awareness, desire, knowledge, ability, and reinforcement (ADKAR) model proposed by Hiatt (2006) and described by Jones-Schenk (2019) and Karambelkar and Bhattacharya (2017). The ADKAR model addresses the change-management process to enhance organizational practices. The model provides a comprehensive framework for the management of change through addressing the involved psychological and practical aspects. This model assists people, especially change leaders, to recognize that successful change needs more than information and training. Change management entails influencing the attitudes, beliefs and behaviors of employees to establish a lasting transformation in the practices of the organization.

Deficiencies in the Evidence

Although research is increasing on vaping in the workplace, policies to protect employees still need development (Romberg et al., 2021). As of 2023, 17 states have passed laws relevant to smoke-free indoor air, including vaping practices (CDC, 2023b). Of the few studies conducted specific to vaping and organizational revenue, Naranjo-Gil (2016) argued that employee health issues lead to a revenue gap and organizational financial losses. Organizational leaders must realize the imperative nature of managing finances and ensuring employees are safe and productive (Mendes et al., 2016). Steinberg et al. (2020) performed a multistate analysis of the implications of smoking policies. The authors discovered extensive research gaps in smoking and vaping policies across states. Whitsel et al. (2015) cautioned e-cigarettes are not presently controlled by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Furthermore, the researchers stated the FDA had authorized numerous nicotine-replacement products for tobacco cessation. However, ecigarettes have not been approved by the FDA for this purpose. Yost and Fiester (2015) asserted smoking regulations have not specifically addressed e-cigarettes at the city and state levels; therefore, organizations need to develop policies. According to Thebarge et al. (2022), smoking awareness campaigns recognize that incentives are required to enable companies to benefit from such initiatives. Based on their study, individual reward-based

programs had a 9.7% higher smoking-cessation rate compared to the usual care (Thebarge et al., 2022). Due to this, organizations have adopted premium incentives and individual-based smoking-cessation programs to decrease benefit costs significantly over time.

However, Yost and Fiester cautioned using e-cigarette devices increases the likelihood of future detrimental health effects as a result of the known and unknown risks of the devices, which may negatively impact an organization. The American Cancer Society (2021) warned continuing to use tobacco products exposes both occasional and full-time tobacco-product users to vast problems. According to the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2018), research is needed " to gather information of most importance for the regulation of electronic cigarettes to protect the population health" (p. 653). The limited research that has been cited in this section represents the majority of the articles available at this time. The research that has been published regarding vaping in the workplace provided an impetus for this particular dissertation research project to help fill that gap.

Audience

The target audience for this study comprises individuals who utilize vaping devices, as they ought to be aware that EVALI are present across all demographics of ecigarette users (Werner et al., 2020). Blount et al. (2020) warned the mortality rate increases sharply in users above 30 years of age. All users of vaping devices are at risk of developing EVALI. In addition, organizational leaders, policymakers, and human resources administrators would be interested in and benefit from the results of this study (see Mendes et al., 2016; Yost & Fiester, 2015). Such leaders would have guidelines for redesigning, reconstructing, and implementing the change-management process related to vaping use. Moreover, through improved vaping regulations, organizational leaders could improve employee satisfaction by providing a higher quality work environment and improvements in administrative resources for more effective executive leadership, budget analysis, and change management, improving the overall organizational climate.

Setting of the Study

This study was not limited to a specific physical setting. Participants were recruited through social media groups for human resources professionals. An online questionnaire was used to gather data. The purpose of the online questionnaire was to collect rich, qualitative data from 18 human resources administrators to explore the preferred practices to address vaping in the work environment. These participants were selected from throughout the southeastern United States. The participants provided data to meet the purpose of the study: to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. As shown in the Appendix, participants were asked to describe both current policies as well as the regulations they would recommend.

Researcher's Role

The role of the researcher was to analyze qualitative data as an administrator employed by organizations whose chief officers are concerned about the effects of vaping in the workplace. The researcher has accrued extensive experience in various capacities within the U.S. Army and various federal government agencies. Moreover, the researcher's experience consists of multiple administrative, leadership, health care, and direct patient care positions from July 2001 to present. The researcher sought to research a topic impacting the organization on many levels. Upon discussing the researcher's experience and interests with the dissertation chair, the impact of the vaping phenomenon and the organizational impact were selected as topics.

Definition of Terms

The following terms were defined to provide clarity to the content of this study.

Cannabinoid (CBD) is derived from the cannabis sativa plant, specifically obtained from hemp or cannabis, and is used in supplements, balms, and oils (CDC, 2021b). Cannabinoids are a cluster of ingredients found in the cannabis plant (CDC, 2021b).

Diffuse alveolar hemorrhage is a severe medical emergency that various illnesses can initiate, resulting in pulmonary hemorrhaging (Agustin et al., 2018). The exposure may elicit alveolar inflammation (Agustin et al., 2018).

E-cigarette or vaping product use-associated lung injuries (EVALI) is a chronic lung disease associated with the utilization of electronic nicotine-delivery system products (Blount et al., 2020). EVALI is commonly diagnosed in patients who used electronic nicotine-delivery systems containing THC (Blount et al., 2020).

Electronic nicotine-delivery systems are battery-powered electronic devices to distribute nicotine, flavorings, other substances, and additives by heating the liquid to produce a vapor, which is inhaled by the user (CDC, 2021a). Battery-operated devices heat mixtures, typically including nicotine and additives, into inhalable vapor (Besaratinia & Tommasi, 2017). These devices include e-cigarettes and vaping products.

Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) is derived from the cannabis sativa plant and is used in oils, edibles, tinctures, or capsules (CDC, 2021b). THC is the primary psychoactive combination in cannabis yielding the euphoric feeling (CDC, 2021b). THC is one of the oldest hallucinogenic drugs (CDC, 2021b).

Vaping is the use of e-cigarettes or electronic nicotine-delivery systems (CDC, 2021a). Vaping is a replication of smoking by warming a liquid to create an aerosol (Chatterjee et al., 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative dissertation study was to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. Vaping directly and indirectly impacts organizations on various levels (Denardo & Rome, 2019). Mache et al. (2019) proposed successful preventative measures to combat vaping may have financial benefits to organizations in addition to enhancing individual health and quality of life. Moreover, the researchers stated enhancements in health could increase productivity while decreasing leave requests, unplanned time from work, and employee disputes regarding vaping. The outcomes of this research study are aimed at providing a framework for effective organizational policies and practices to address vaping in the workplace.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The review of the literature provided a foundation for the research. The review begins with the theoretical framework of the study. Then, the phenomenon of vaping is defined, followed by a brief history of vaping. Studies are reviewed on the effects and incidence of vaping. Addiction to vaping is addressed. The impact of vaping on the organization is discussed. Organizational best practices and policies on vaping are presented. Based on the literature, effective policies include limiting or banning vaping and smoking, workplace smoking-cessation programs, wellness programs, incentives to not vape or use tobacco, and penalties for tobacco or vaping use. These best practices provided the foundation for the questionnaire developed for this study. The chapter ends with the research questions guiding the study.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this dissertation served to provide a general explanation of why variables work together, how they are related to one another, and how they influence each other (Galvan & Galvan, 2017). Creswell and Guetterman (2019) recognized the theoretical framework in qualitative research where the researcher begins with a theory, concludes with an idea, or modifies a current view based on perspectives of participants. Moreover, a qualitative study's framework includes a rationale for qualitative research, a description of individuals, and an analysis of themes (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

The ADKAR model of change management (Hiatt, 2006) was the theoretical framework underpinning the dissertation study. The model has five components: awareness of the need for change, desire to change, knowledge of how to change, ability

to develop or implement skills and behaviors to support the change, and reinforcement to sustain the change (Hiatt, 2006). The ADKAR model of change management is not a traditional theoretical framework but is used for understanding and applying many approaches for managing change at the individual level. The complexity leadership theory developed by Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) complements ADKAR. Mendes et al. (2016) and Al Rahbi et al. (2017) affirmed the Uhl-Bien et al. foundations for leadership were supported by research: (a) a multifaceted cooperative theory including outcomes learning, innovation, and adaptability and (b) a leadership model centered on knowledge, adaptive ability, and innovative capability of multifaceted adaptive methods. These theories of leadership are pertinent, significant, and applicable to organizational leadership.

Hiatt (2006) created the ADKAR change-management model and implemented the code of conduct for managing change. Furthermore, Jones-Schenk (2019) and Karambelkar and Bhattacharya (2017) agreed with Hiatt by acknowledging (a) how distinguishable elements encouraged resistance to change and (b) how individual elected utilization methods might be used to counteract individual and collective fears related to change. Hiatt emphasized change management within organizational leadership required methodologies centered on individuals. Hiatt proposed ways aimed at supporting the empowerment of change at the individual level. Change is a dynamic more concerned with individual processing mechanisms than the actual act of change (Hiatt, 2006; Jones-Schenk, 2019; Karambelkar & Bhattacharya, 2017). The ADKAR change-management model has evolved to Prosci Inc., an organization that assists organizations worldwide with implementing change management processes. Jeff Hiatt and the Prosci Inc. team developed the ADKAR change management model into a dynamic global organization advocating client-focused customer success.

Furthermore, Prosci Inc. assists organizations in building effective change capabilities that combine scientific principles and focus on the people's side of change. They deliver superior training programs, maintain the industry's largest body of change management knowledge, and ensure exceptional customer experiences. Prosci asserts that change management is a discipline that has evolved and matured over the past quarter of a century. Prosci research cultivates changes to be successful by equipping and supporting clients globally. Individuals move through changes so that they successfully adopt the changes. Without adoption, changes will not be successful, and we will not deliver the desired outcomes. Prosci Inc. research promotes changes for successfully equipping and supporting clients globally. Organizations move through changes so that they successfully adopt the changes. Adoption is necessary to increase the likelihood of the organizations achieving successful outcomes. Effectively managing change incorporates a communication plan, where organizational leadership communicates to the organization that it is implementing change management processes. Adopting the discipline of change management process differently depending on their business needs. Moreover, organizations achieve technology implementation that can benefit from change management. The change management process varies in scope and purpose and may be defined and implemented according to organizational structure.

Robbins et al. (2016) and Jones-Schenk (2019) identified change management as a necessary mechanism for organizational leadership to analyze data and trends, to facilitate direction, to raise awareness, and to formulate the groundwork for an organization to employ change. Moreover, the authors claimed change management augments and implements policies to enhance organizational functions. Therefore, change management should be an integral part of any organizational effort to implement policies discouraging vaping usage.

Phenomenon of Vaping Defined

Many researchers have found that the phenomenon of vaping has generated public health awareness of the impacts of electronic nicotine-delivery systems and other tobacco-related products (Levy, Warner, et al., 2019; Levy, Yuan, et al., 2019). For instance, Levy, Warner, et al., 2019 conducted a study in which they looked at a cohortspecific model of the impact of electronic nicotine-delivery systems on smoking cessation by adult smokers. The participants smoked in two birth cohorts between 30 and 50. The setting was the United States. They were exploring the resulting premature deaths and life years lost developed by gender for two birth cohorts. They came up with electronic nicotine-delivery systems use in the United States, which is projected to have a net positive impact on population health over a wide range of plausible levels of electronic nicotine-delivery systems utilization. In 2019, Levy, Warner, et al conducted a study on the 2018 National Academics of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine Report to examine the temporal relationship between vaping and youth smoking utilizing multiple data sets to explore if vaping promotes smoking initiation in the United States. The study was conducted at Georgetown University in Washington, D.C. The reason for the study was to use publicly available, nationally representative data about smoking and young adults. The findings determined there was a substantial increase in youth vaping; however, the aggregate effect on the level of the population appears negligible with the reduction in smoking initiation during the period of the vaping ascendance. Another

study looking at this issue of public health awareness and the impact of electronic nicotine delivery systems was conducted by Levy, Warner, et al., 2019. The study was conducted in the United States. The study was to conduct a trend line analysis to consider trends of more established smoking.

Moreover, the study explored the deviations from the long-term trend with vaping using various surveys as the inverse relationship between tobacco was robust across different data sets for both youth and young adults. The inclusion factors of participants were young adults between 18 and 24. According to Denardo and Rome (2019), vaping is the process of inhaling a vapor produced by an electronic vaping device or e-cigarette. Vaping devices and e-cigarettes are powered by a battery and use cartridges containing nicotine, flavorings, other substances, and additives. The term *vaping* describes the inhalation of the vapor produced by heating liquid in the devices (Denardo & Rome, 2019). The CDC (2021a) reported e-cigarettes are often referenced as "e-cigs, vapes, ehookahs, vape pens, and electronic nicotine delivery systems" (para. 2) Furthermore, the CDC (2021a) explained various vaping devices resemble the traditional cigarette, cigar, smoking pipe, or USB flash drives. For instance, Denardo and Rome cited a study conducted by Bullen et al. in which they looked at a random sample of individuals who were interested in tobacco cessation utilizing e-cigarettes, nicotine patches, or placebo. The participants were followed for six months. They found that tobacco cessation rates were less than predicted for the study. Their ultimate final synopsis was electronic nicotine-delivery systems were modestly effective in assisting individuals stop smoking and using electronic nicotine-delivery systems and that the absence rates were similar to individuals using nicotine patches for tobacco cessation.

History of Vaping

Mendes et al. (2016) warned of the significant impacts of employee psychological and physical health on organizations at all levels. Problems affecting employee wellness may produce multifaceted burdens on organizations by decreasing team motivation, for example (Al Rahbi et al., 2017). Yost and Fiester (2015) argued prohibiting e-cigarette devices is of the essence in the work environment. Furthermore, these authors cautioned e-cigarettes produce aromas potentially offensive to other personnel and affecting employees with allergies.

Research on the health effects of vaping is accumulating at a tremendous rate. Blount et al. (2020) suggested vaping may introduce high levels of dangerous chemicals into the body and cause severe lung injury and death. Moreover, Blount et al. reported negative health effects of smoking included damage to deoxyribonucleic acid (or DNA), lung epithelial cells, embryonic stem cells, and pulmonary fibroblasts. Agustin et al. (2018) found diffuse alveolar hemorrhage is indicative of lung complications from the use of vaping devices. Most e-cigarettes contain high concentrations of nicotine and other carcinogens, which are unsafe and detrimental to the health of the user and bystanders alike (Denardo & Rome, 2019). Barton et al. (2020) warned recent studies lacked toxicology and chemical analyses investigating potential adverse health effects of ecigarettes, which has caused organizations to overlook the real dangers of vaping. Whitsel et al. (2015) explained the inconsistent evaluation of exhaled aerosol from ecigarette users results from the various styles, brands, and chemical content of the devices combined with characteristics of the specific environment and the measurement techniques used. However, all attempts at measuring demonstrated significant exhalation

of nicotine and propylene glycol into the atmosphere. Moreover, Barton et al. expressed apprehensions regarding indoor air quality and prospective hazards to individuals due to exposure to chemicals associated with smoking and vaping.

Incidence of Vaping

The Tobacco Control Network (2016) reported in the United States, 8.5% of adults had tried e-cigarettes, and 2.6% were current users in 2013. Moreover, the Tobacco Control Network noted in California between 2012 and 2013, adult e-cigarette use doubled. According to the CDC (2018), in 2016, 14% of employed adults were current smokers; smoking and nicotine use remained "the leading cause of preventable death" (p. 45). Yingst et al. (2019) and Steinberg et al. (2020) explored the incidence of vaping. They found a history of addiction impacted individual tolerance levels, occasion, and recreational usage. Steinberg et al. reviewed the history and prevalence of vaping and available research on its health effects. The researchers also reviewed efficacy in smoking cessation and proposed recommendations for clinicians and legislators to reduce harms associated with vaping.

Addiction to Vaping

Pippard and Shipley (2017) and Chatterjee et al. (2018) demonstrated in their studies how transitioning from conventional cigarette smoking to e-cigarettes assisted users in continuing previous habits as opposed to quitting. E-cigarettes and vaping devices are often utilized in attempts at smoking cessation. Etter (2018) cautioned using any nicotine-delivery system is linked predictably with using other nicotine-delivery systems. Other researchers (Gartner, 2018; Levy, Warner et al., 2019; Yingst et al., 2019) agreed e-cigarettes have been referred to as a gateway to using other drugs, such as marijuana and other recreational drugs. Etter (2018) explored the gateway theory and the connection to e-cigarettes or other nicotine-delivery systems. The author alleged the use of e-cigarette devices may lead young nonsmokers to smoking in the future. Moreover, the author explained the gateway theory is used to support restrictive regulations of vaporizers and e-cigarettes. The gateway theory was applied to examining the progression of addiction from a medical perspective, which limits its applicability to examining change within organizations. Yingst et al. (2019) and Kava et al. (2018) recommended policy makers consider user addiction to nicotine during the process of enacting laws forbidding using e-cigarettes in public places.

According to the CDC (2021a), e-cigarettes have not been completely ruled out as beneficial in smoking cessation. Risi (2017) noted the impetus for inventing e-cigarettes in the early 1960s was an effort to reduce nicotine consumption. However, e-cigarettes contain nicotine, which is highly addictive, toxic to an unborn child, and harmful for early adolescent and young adult brain development (CDC, 2021a). According to Etter (2019), vaping is a method utilized for smoking cessation but is not a definitive solution for an individual trying to quit nicotine addiction.

Impact of Vaping on the Organization

Vaping and smoking affect organizations by negatively impacting employee health, decreasing workplace safety, and reduced productivity. Whitsel et al. (2015) cautioned additional unintended injuries caused by e-cigarettes include defective batteries causing fire and explosion as well as toxic exposure through accidental swallowing, absorbing, and breathing e-cigarette liquid through the eyes or skin. Chatterjee et al. (2018) noted liquid nicotine vaporized and absorbed through the mouth is mostly water vapor. The nicotine content causes users to become exposed to similar toxins as those found in other tobacco-related products such as cigarettes. Furthermore, vaping liquids may expose users to chemicals not usually found in tobacco-related products.

The Tobacco Control Network (2016) repeated the CDC warning of the association of secondhand smoke exposure with cardiovascular disease, respiratory illnesses, and cancers in children. Furthermore, temporary contact with secondhand smoke may cause harm to the blood vessels, blood cells, and blood products. Brief exposure to secondhand smoke is detrimental and may injure cells and cause cancers to develop (Tobacco Control Network, 2016). Moreover, the more individuals are exposed to secondhand smoke, the greater the risk of developing diseases.

Employees vaping in workplace common areas, bathrooms, and breakrooms are disrupting the organization (Romberg et al., 2021). Due to health problems, absenteeism, smoke breaks, and potential conflicts with nonsmokers, vaping reduces productivity in the workplace (Asay et al., 2016; Sammer, 2018). In a quantitative survey study of 1,607 employees, Romberg et al. (2021) found 61.6% of respondents encountered vaping at the workplace. Further, 63% were bothered by the vaping, and 52% stated vaping reduced workplace productivity (Romberg et al., 2021). Graham et al. (2020) reported similar results, with respondents indicating that encountering vaping in the workplace triggered those who had quit smoking to want to use tobacco. Chatterjee et al. (2018) also stated employees vaping in the workplace negatively impact the organization. Employees caught vaping on the job are thus accountable to the organization. Organizational policies decreasing vaping would effectively decrease the occurrence of EVALI resulting from exposure in the workplace (Mendes et al., 2016). Research is needed to inform effective

workplace policies related to vaping.

Organizational Preferred Practices and Policies Regarding Vaping

Steinberg et al. (2020) investigated regulatory and legislative documents with the developing trend in states that permit exceptions for indoor cannabis use in public areas presently required to be free of tobacco usage. Yingst et al. (2019) reported tobacco-free environment policies are not federally regulated in the United States, and some states had not established tobacco restrictions in community areas. Cannabis is currently illegal under federal law, yet Steinberg et al. (2020) noted the use of cannabis was legal for users over the age of 21 in Washington, DC, 11 states, and Guam. The Tobacco Control Network (2016) denoted the FDA regulation of all tobacco products, including electronic smoking devices, required companies to disclose all contents in the products. As of 2023, 17 states, none in the Southeast, had passed comprehensive legislation for smoke-free workplaces including any kind of device, including-cigarettes (CDC, 2023b).

According to Kava et al. (2018), Chapman et al. (2017), and Besaratinia and Tommasi (2017), organizations with effective smoking and e-cigarette usage policies are protecting the health of all employees. Results from these studies suggest implementation of organization policy correlates to the health and wellness of employees. Further, lack of tobacco use among employees contributes to organizational productivity (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.). Kava et al. examined existing policies and procedures in workplaces and observed many policies are obsolete because they do not include newer technologies, such as vaping. Yingst et al. (2019) cautioned a potential dilemma to address is the practice of vaping inconspicuously in locations where usage is prohibited. Schmidt (2019) and Kennedy et al. (2017) explored the preferred practices and policies of vaping utilized by various organizational leadership dynamics and documented changing employee health behaviors requires discipline and must be accomplished over some time. Sammer (2018) concurred that effective policies take time. Effective policies include limits to vaping and smoking use, workplace smoking-cessation programs, wellness programs, incentives to not vape or use tobacco, and penalties for tobacco or vaping use.

Individual organizations may need to consider the circumstances of individual employees to best tailor policies. For example, Jitnarin et al. (2021) studied vaping use among firefighters in a generic qualitative study. Interviewees were 23 career firefighters. Interview questions covered history of smokeless tobacco product use, reinforcing factors, motivation for quitting, barriers, knowledge and beliefs about the use of smokeless products, and tobacco-cessation programs in the organization. Specific barriers to vaping or smokeless tobacco cessation were a need for coping mechanisms related to the stress of the job, social influences, and positive perceptions of smokeless tobacco products. Such individual information, which could not be gathered in a quantitative format, according to Jitnarin et al., would allow the organization to implement individualized policies related to the firefighters' perceptions and motivations.

Limiting or Banning Smoking and Vaping

The Society for Human Resource Management conducted a nationwide survey of human resources personnel and found nearly half of organizations restricted or banned smoking at work (Miller, 2016). The policy was typically formal and written. Smoking was often limited to specific areas, often outdoors, or even completely banned (Miller, 2016). Some policies limited the number of smoking breaks allowed daily. Kava (2017) designed a mixed-methods study regarding the perceptions of organizational factors possibly influencing the adoption of smoking policies, smoking-cessation activities, and employee-smoking behaviors at workplaces with fewer than 100 employees as well as workplaces with fewer than 20 employees. The first part of the study was qualitative; of the 32 respondents, 31 described a workplace smoking policy. Kava found that the smaller workplaces banned smoking but were less likely than larger organizations to offer smoking-cessation programs. The second part of the study was quantitative. First, executives at the sites completed a brief questionnaire; then, employees completed surveys. Organizational culture was not found to be related to smoking policy. Kava concluded strategies for organizational change are an important element when implementing smoking bans in the workplace.

Smoking-Cessation Programs

Kava et al. (2018) indicated organizational leaders implement smoking cessation programs to combat tobacco-related product usage while smoking policies prohibit using tobacco products in public areas. Offering a smoking-cessation program is a best practice for organizations, according to the CDC (2018), although only 18.5% of organizations offer such a program. Further, smoking-cessation programs are more likely to be offered by workplaces with more than 100 employees (CDC, 2018).

The Tobacco Control Network (2016) validated when tobacco users are afforded tobacco-cessation treatment as a benefit, users are more likely to quit. Mache et al. (2019) agreed with the Tobacco Control Network regarding the benefits of smoking-cessation programs in organizations. Additionally, workplace intervention programs are logical settings for offering tobacco-cessation programs.

Sammer (2018) noted the most effective smoking-cessation programs use

technology for self-directed online education, coaching through videoconferencing, and particularly social support through a network. The CDC (2018) noted about half of workplace tobacco-cessation programs only offer information on quitting, whereas a more comprehensive program offers information as well as skill-building help. Researchers for the CDC (2018, 2020b) concluded the best approach combines tobaccoor smoke-free policies with easy access to free resources to help employees quit. Supportive resources include counseling, hotlines, and medications (CDC, 2018). The U.S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d.) concurred, suggesting smoking-cessation programs combine information with individual or group counseling, in-person training, and medication (such as nicotine replacement). Effective programs provide a variety of formats and clinicians, are intensive, and provide support against relapse (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.).

Coles (2019) sought to discover how long-term care facilities expanded their views to construct an evidence-based smoking-cessation education program for delivery to employees. The site did not restrict smoking; however, the study was designed to determine whether educating employees about the dangers of smoking could change their practices. A pre- and posttest was used to determine employee knowledge change after a PowerPoint presentation on smoking cessation. Using the Google Forms online surveying platform, a Likert-type scale was used as well to gather employees' perceptions. Coles's study was limited to a small number of employees at a small organization, relating to the individual emphasis of the ADKAR model of change management (Jones-Schenk, 2019). A panel of six individuals rated the effectiveness of the smoking-cessation presentation. Coles concluded that incentives, if aligned with organizational culture, were important to add to a smoking-cessation program.

Wellness Programs and Incentives

Miller (2016) noted the Affordable Care Act allows organizations to provide employee incentives for participation in wellness programs. Incentives may be reduced health insurance costs. Nonsmokers pay reduced health insurance premiums, and smokers participating in tobacco-cessation programs may receive insurance discounts as well (Miller, 2016). Sammer (2018) reported such employer incentives to quit smoking were successful.

Wellness programs provide information on changing one's lifestyle to include health practices, without tobacco (Miller, 2016; Sammer, 2018). The CDC (2018) noted the importance of comprehensive wellness programs to help employees make lifestyle changes. Wellness programs may be internal or offered through community services (CDC, 2018). Best practices include a mission statement or annual goals related to the program (CDC, n.d.). Additionally, wellness programs may include an employee assistance program (EAP) to address mental health, stress management, and drug or alcohol use (CDC, n.d.).

Barriers to wellness programs include the lack of experienced staff for internal wellness programs (CDC, 2018). Lack of employee interest is another potential barrier. Researchers for the CDC (2018) concluded,

Programs that do not follow best practices and have not taken steps to integrate their activities into the broader workplace culture often have low engagement and participation. Setting clear, reasonable expectations that can be measured while starting with smaller successes and growing over time can keep employees interested as will keeping programming fun and flexible. (p. 31)

Additionally, leadership and financial support are necessary for effective wellness programs. Such programs need continual assessment to ensure they remain topical and up to date (CDC, 2018; Graham et al., 2020; U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.).

Penalties Related to Smoking

Another approach is to penalize employees who use tobacco. Some human resources staff responding to the Society for Human Resource Management nationwide survey reported an organizational policy implementing smoking surcharges (Miller, 2016). Such surcharges included higher health insurance premiums. Nearly half of the respondents indicating a policy with such surcharges also reported the policy reduced employee smoking in the workplace (Miller, 2016). Sammer (2018) stated that effective policies to prevent smoking included workplace penalties, among other strategies.

Summary of Literature Review

The literature review summarizes a consensus of research regarding employee vaping in organizations. The ADKAR model of change management was introduced as the theoretical basis of the study. Vaping was defined, and research was presented regarding incidence of vaping and potential addictive qualities. Research studies supported the negative effects of vaping to organizations through costs, decreased productivity, and dangers to employee health and workplace safety. The literature review revealed organizational preferred practices, policies, and procedures related to regulating e-cigarettes and tobacco-related products in workplace environments. Such best practices include clear policies limiting or banning vaping, an organizational mission statement addressing employee health (including use of tobacco), smoking-cessation programs, wellness programs, employee incentives to not use tobacco or vape, and penalties for employees who do.

Research Questions

The purpose of this generic qualitative dissertation study was to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. The following research questions guided an investigation of human resource administrator perceptions of existing organizational policies and potential barriers to policies regulating workplace vaping.

1. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding benefits and barriers to vaping regulations in the workplace?

2. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding workplace policies providing penalties or incentives to discourage vaping?

3. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding the inclusion of employee health as part of the organizational mission statements and goals?

4. How do human resource administrators perceive employee wellness programs or smoking-cessation programs as a vaping policy?

Chapter 3: Methodology

Aim of the Study

The purpose of this generic qualitative dissertation study was to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. The researcher investigated the perceptions of human resources administrators of existing organizational policies and potential barriers and improvements to policies regulating workplace vaping. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) explained qualitative research designs permit researchers to clearly understand perceptions and the complexities of social interaction expressed by participants.

Qualitative Research Approach

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) defined qualitative research methodology as a process of studying the outcome of a case or product through observation, interaction, and data sources. The qualitative research methodology allows researchers to understand how individuals or groups of people experience or perceive an issue or phenomenon. This qualitative dissertation study utilized a focused selection strategy to select participants with relevant experiences to help the researcher recognize and understand the outcome, as defined by Creswell and Guetterman. As the study was not designed to test the impact of an intervention on variables, or to determine statistical relations among variables, a qualitative approach was appropriate.

The qualitative research methodology allows researchers to cultivate well-defined and detailed understandings, which can be replicated (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). A case study design was considered; however, the study was not bounded to a single organization, and therefore a generic qualitative design was more appropriate (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Percy et al., 2015). In a basic or generic qualitative study, data from questionnaires or interviews are analyzed to provide an indepth understanding of a phenomenon (Saracho, 2017). Percy et al. (2015) noted the generic approach is often appropriate when qualitative questionnaires are used. A generic, or basic, qualitative approach reveals how participants interpret and provide meaning to experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

This generic qualitative dissertation study used purposeful sampling to select participants who could provide rich information to answer the research questions, as described by Creswell and Guetterman (2019). These researchers stressed the importance of contacting individuals who could provide the required data. Moreover, the framework for a qualitative study includes a rationale for qualitative research, a description of individuals, and thematic analysis (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Brinkmann and Kvale (2019) asserted qualitative methodology reaches far beyond statistical results and allows the researcher to understand the behavioral conditions through the perspective of the individual participant. For example, Jitnarin et al. (2021) used a generic qualitative methodology to study firefighters' perceptions of smokeless tobacco use and cessation in the workplace.

Marshall and Rossman (2016) explained that when approaching qualitative research from a generalized perspective, the researcher must demonstrate how the study design will likely ensure that data collection and analysis are credible. The approach in a generic qualitative aimed to strategically generalize how human resources administrators view their current organizational policies. Furthermore, it identifies potential barriers and improvements to policies regulating workplace vaping.

Participants

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) noted qualitative researchers should locate the most suitable participants to respond to the interview questions and thereby address the overall research questions. Thus, purposeful sampling was used to select 18 human resources administrators to complete an open-ended questionnaire. Sample size in qualitative research varies by study, with no clear standards. Creswell and Creswell (2018) suggested samples of 10 or less may be adequate. Most researchers use the idea of data saturation to justify sample size (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Saturation is "the point at which no new information, codes or themes are yielded from data" (Braun & Clarke, 2021, p. 202). Braun and Clarke (2021) stated thematic analysis data saturation can occur in 6–16 interviews and suggested that a pragmatic approach to sample size is a consideration.

Criteria included active human resources administrators with at least 2 years of experience and working in the southeastern United States. The participants were recruited via professional email lists, human resources Facebook groups (e.g., Society for Human Resource Management, Human Resources Management, The Human Resources Group), and Instagram. These social media groups consisted of a wide variety of human resources administrators who might use social media to share, ask questions, and discuss smoking policy implementation.

Data Collection Tool

Data in generic qualitative studies are typically gathered through interviews or open-ended questionnaires (Saracho, 2017). For this study, an open-ended questionnaire was used. Online interviews were an option during the COVID-19 pandemic, but many human resources administrators were likely suffering from Zoom fatigue (Fosslien & Duffy, 2020; Ramachandran, 2020). Potential participants likely would prefer to fill out a questionnaire rather than engaging in another online videoconference. Additionally, online questionnaires did not require transcription, as an audio-recorded interview would. The researcher utilized Google Forms to collect responses from human resources administrators.

The researcher color-coded human resources administrators' Google Form survey questionnaire results to conduct the data analysis. The researcher analyzed qualitatively thematically utilizing a systematic strategy, seeking both recurrent themes and variations in responses to the research questions. The researcher entered participants' data colorcoded to assign articles to illustrate and emphasize. This indicated micro-thematic inferences within the overall framework to outline research questions analysis. Additionally, repetitive answers were analyzed systematically to highlight research questions. The researcher triangulated the questionnaire data in the findings for the pilot and participants' groups. Moreover, organizational policies and human resources administrators were part of the larger research project. Furthermore, the researcher investigated positive, neutral, and negative indicators within the data collected. Moreover, organizational policies and human resources administrators were part of the larger research project. Furthermore, the researcher investigated positive, neutral, and negative indicators within the data collected.

The questions for participants were designed to gather perceptions related to benefits of vaping regulations, current practices in organizational regulations of vaping, and barriers to regulating vaping in the workplace. First, a literature review was conducted to determine preferred practices in regulating vaping. Specific regulatory practices related to smoking and vaping were described in results of a survey by the Society for Human Resource Management (Miller, 2016). In another report for the Society for Human Resource Management, Sammer (2018) described best practices for smoking-cessation programs. The CDC (n.d.) created a series of site-visit interview questions related to workplace health, which included questions specific to tobacco use and regulation in the workplace. Finally, the CDC (2018) created a survey on workplace health.

CDC and other subject matter experts recommended questions about specific evidence-based or promising strategies for each health topic covered in the survey. These strategies were identified through the literature as having been developed, implemented, and evaluated for their effectiveness through the application of principles of scientific reasoning, including systematic uses of data and information systems, and appropriate use of behavioral science theory and program planning models. (CDC, 2018, p. 10)

Questions were not used verbatim from any of these sources. Questionnaire items were based on the topics included in the CDC (2018) survey, the CDC (n.d.) interview questions, and best practices from the literature (e.g., Miller, 2016; Sammer, 2018). For example, the CDC (2018) survey asked respondents about barriers to comprehensive health-promotion programs, whether the organization offered a tobacco-cessation program, the type of support for the program to keep it up to date, and whether

organizations offered counseling and insurance coverage related to tobacco cessation. The CDC (n.d.) interview asked what respondents saw as the benefits of a health program to the organization, whether the organization had a mission statement related to employee health, and whether the organization made annual wellness objectives. CDC (2018, n.d.) questions also addressed any written policy restricting tobacco use and whether policies banned tobacco use at the workplace or restricted smoking to specific locations. The U.S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d.) offered a checklist on assessing smokingcessation programs, which included asking whether the organization offered an EAP, a question also included by the CDC (n.d.).

These question areas from previous literature including interviews, questionnaires, and studies of best practices were used to create the questionnaire (see Appendix). Tables 1 and 2 show the relation of interview questions to the research questions. The questionnaire was pilot tested with two human resources administrators who were not part of the final study. Pilot testing ensured that the questions elicited the type of data needed to answer the research questions.

Procedures

The following enumerated procedures were used to develop the questionnaire, recruit participants, collect data, and analyze the data. Including specific procedures is part of an audit trail, which enables a study to be replicated (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

1. An ongoing review of the literature related to best practices in regulating vaping in the workplace informed study findings. Practices in the literature were used to create the research questions as well as the questionnaire.

2. The questionnaire was pilot tested with two human resources administrators.

Data gained were not included in the final study results.

Table 1

Research	Questions	1–2 and	Related	Questionnaire Items

Research question	Questionnaire item
1. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding benefits and barriers to vaping regulations in the workplace?	 Roughly how many individuals does your workplace employ? What do you see as the benefits to policies related to vaping in the workplace? What is your organization's written policy about vaping in the workplace? Please describe any limits or bans on vaping in the workplace. Does the organization ban vaping from the workplace? Limit smoking/vaping to specific areas? Is vaping allowed outdoors? Does a written policy dictate the number and duration of vaping breaks during the day? Do nonsmokers receive similar breaks? Are organizational policies different for vaping and smoking? In what way? What are barriers to effective vaping policies in the workplace?
2. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding workplace policies providing penalties or incentives to discourage vaping?	6. Describe any penalties or surcharges applied to employees who vape, such as higher insurance premiums.7. Describe any incentives offered to nonsmokers, such as reduced insurance premiums. What incentives are offered to smokers trying to quit, if any?

3. Following Nova Southeastern University Institutional Review Board approval to conduct the study, participants were recruited from social media. Participants were recruited through professional email lists, Instagram, and Facebook groups (e.g., Society for Human Resource Management, Human Resources Management, The Human

Resources Group). Criteria for participation included current human resources

administrators in the southeastern United States with at least 2 years of experience.

Table 2

Research question	Questionnaire item	
3. What are the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding inclusion of employee health as part of the organizational mission statement and goals?	8. Does your organization have a wellness or employee health mission statement? Please describe.	
4. How do human resource administrators perceive employee wellness programs or smoking- cessation programs as a vaping policy?	 9. Describe any wellness program offered by the organization. Wellness programs encourage healthy lifestyle changes. Is the program managed internally or externally? If internal, how are staff chosen/trained to offer smoking cessation training or wellness guidance? 10. What type of smoking-cessation programs are offered? Describe the information given, skills taught, any counseling provided. 11. How is information about smoking-cessation or wellness programs communicated to employees? For example, signs on the wall, mailers, emails. 12. Describe any Employee Assistance Program offered by your organization. These programs offer mental health counseling, stress management, weight management, smoking-cessation programs evaluated and updated? 14. Does your organization partner with any health-oriented or smoking-cessation organizations in th community? 	

Research Questions 3–4 and Related Questionnaire Items

4. All participants signed an Informed Consent Form prior to receiving

questionnaires. Informed consent explained the confidential nature of the study.

5. Results of 18 questionnaires were analyzed thematically. Responses to specific questionnaire items relate to individual research questions, as shown in Tables 1 and 2. Responses were coded, with codes grouped into categories and emergent themes. Findings were compared with the existing literature on best practices in regulating vaping in the workplace.

Data Analysis

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) explained data analysis is multifaceted and depends on the analytical emphasis and the methodology. Additionally, Creswell and Guetterman stated qualitative researchers rely on in-depth description. Brinkmann and Kvale (2019) noted the researcher is the research tool, involved in the process of interpreting meaning from the data.

The human resources administrators coded the Google Form survey questionnaire results. The researcher analyzed qualitatively thematically utilizing a systematic strategy, seeking both recurrent themes and variations in responses to the research questions. The researcher entered participants' data color-coded to assign articles to illustrate and emphasize. This indicated micro-thematic inferences within the overall framework to outline research questions analysis. Additionally, repetitive answers were analyzed systematically to highlight research questions. The researcher triangulated the questionnaire data in the findings for the pilot and participants' groups.

Moreover, organizational policies and human resources administrators were part of the larger research project. Furthermore, the researcher investigated positive, neutral, and negative indicators within the data collected. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) explained that data analysis is multifaceted and depends on the analytical emphasis and the methodology. Additionally, Creswell and Guetterman stated that qualitative researchers rely on in-depth descriptions. Brinkmann and Kvale (2019) noted that the researcher is the tool for interpreting meaning from the data.

First, each questionnaire was read carefully. Then, each questionnaire was reread, with responses grouped by research question (see Tables 1 and 2). Responses per research question were coded in aggregate, using coding to identify chunks of text or commonly used words in the responses (Miles et al., 2019; Saldaña, 2015). Codes were combined into like categories. Finally, broader themes that showed meaning of the data were developed.

Data collection was obtained from the participant's responses to the questionnaires from surveys received by the researcher; however, CDC (2018, n.d.) acknowledged that establishing, implementing, updating required, or change management process strategies must be culturally sensitive and geared toward the community in which they were administered. Currently, organizational team members, as the community health volunteers for the employees, are asked to criticize.

The results of the Google Form online surveys indicated the need for change management processes in many organizational policies to specify the utilization of vaping and electronic e-cigarettes or vaping devices, specifically in their smoking and tobacco use policies. The human resources administrator community leaned on organizational team members to adhere to the utilization of vaping and tobacco products under smoking policies in the workplace. If organizational leaders clarify that vaping is prohibited at work, they may also impact the results by setting expectations. Approximately one-half of the participants on tobacco-free campuses indicated organizational policies were already implemented for dismissal from the organization rather than reflecting (Miller, 2016) sentiments of surcharges from reported the policy reduced employee smoking in the workplace (Miller, 2016)

The researcher concentrated on the participants' responses to the qualitative questionnaire using the digital format of the Google Forms online survey tool. Participants in this study supported communications that highlighted policy documents that promoted the use of tobacco and vaping products since the early 1960s as an effort to reduce nicotine consumption. Through the years, the (CDC, 2021a) has maintained that e-cigarettes contain nicotine, which is highly addictive, toxic to an unborn child, and harmful to early adolescent and young adult brain development.

Participants noted that the best time to ensure organizational team members read organizational policies was during orientation and onboarding. The investigation defended the CDC's (2018) recommendation that organizations offer smoking cessation programs because these programs are more likely to be provided by organizations with over one hundred workers (CDC, 2018). Furthermore, offering employees assistance programs with options such as tobacco cessation programs in workplace intervention programs makes sense. The researcher discovered that the awareness of organizational benefits information such as insurance, wellness, and tobacco cessation programs during orientation and onboarding reduced vaping and tobacco usage breaks in organizations with designated smoking areas. Participants in the generic qualitative research study identified the utilization of vaping and tobacco products policies as a discretionary workplace policy to some extent. Implications for vaping and tobacco products policies in the work environment are available for Human Resources administrators responsible for policy analysis for workplace guidance and the establishment, implementation, required update, or change management processes enforcing vaping and tobacco usage policies to protect their organizational members and enhance their quality of life.

When conducting the survey, the researcher referred to TCN to analyze numerous ways to encourage participant behavior that complied with the rules on the use of vaping and tobacco products among workplace leaders in the southeastern United States. To effectively attain this, injunctive norms were vital as they established moral and ethical expectations for behaviors within specific contexts such as the workplace. The study's quantitative component provided sufficient value to accomplish the purpose of the study. Organizational leaders at the locations completed a quick questionnaire, and the employees did questionnaires. Local organization leaders debate the use of tobacco products and vaping rules and highlight the moral obligation for their organizations to abide by them, as organizational policy dictates organization safety, ensuring a safe and effective environment. Most workplace policies indicate the need to be updated since they do not consider modern technology like vaping. Regulations that prohibit vaping and other tobacco use practices in the workplace may aid in lowering the prevalence of vaping and supporting newly emerging smoking and tobacco use and regulations.

Most organizations and workplaces in the Southeast of the US forbid smoking on campus. In this generic qualitative study, 28% of organizational team members are exposed to workplace vaping and tobacco product emissions. Most individuals are aware of the potential hazards of secondhand smoke, particularly smokers, older people, and those with lower levels of education. All human resources policies analyzed for workplace guidance in this research study fall into one of four groups: establish, implement, update required, or change management process recommended.

Organizations in the research study have published policies defining the use of ecigarettes by members if they are underage or pregnant. Other organizations have also mentioned the restriction against deliberately inflicting injury or discontent on others. Organization in the United States has to contend with an extensive and developing tobacco problem amid these workplace discussions. The southeastern part of the United States has few tobacco control regulations at the federal level. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control is one of the few agreements this workplace has yet to recognize.

Nevertheless, there is improvement supported by clean work environments in many organizations in this research study, as most participants' organizations had tobacco-free campuses, and vaping, smoking, and tobacco usage were prohibited. The current study shows that studies still need to be completed to ascertain how workplace vaping bans affect human resources administrators' views on using tobacco products and vaping rules. Additionally, collaborating with workplace organizations may benefit the tobacco control community.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations included protecting the identity of the participants and acquiring informed consent before any data collection (Brinkmann & Kvale, 2019; Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Researchers should consider any potential ethical concerns prior to conducting research (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Participants were assigned a number, and no names were included in the dissertation. Results were reported in aggregate, without any details potentially revealing participant identities. Additionally, participants were allowed to discontinue completion of the questionnaire at any time.

Trustworthiness

Brinkmann and Kvale (2019) and Creswell and Guetterman (2019) acknowledged trustworthiness in qualitative research as the counterpart to validity, reliability, and credibility in quantitative research. A purposeful sample was used to provide in-depth, rich information on the phenomenon studied and it helped with trustworthiness of the study. Use of a questionnaire based on the research literature increased credibility of findings (Creswell & Poth, 2018); additionally, the questionnaire was pilot tested. Listing procedures followed as part of an audit trail, which provided transparency in all aspects of the study, including data collection and analysis. An audit trail provides comfirmability and reliability (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Potential Research Bias

Bias is the evidence of partiality of or contradicting an item, an individual, or group. Brinkmann and Kvale (2019) noted in qualitative research, the researcher is the instrument of data collection and analysis. According to these researchers, freedom from bias objectively refers to undistorted and reliable data collection. Realistically, a researcher may not be entirely free of bias but may seek to mitigate bias (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Former personal experiences of a researcher may alter the interpretations or clarify data. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) indicated in the qualitative storytelling structure how the meaning of the study unfolds through descriptions, the researcher's reflections on the importance of the data as a significant phenomenon, and a return to the researcher's stance on the topic. The researcher of this study has accrued experience in administration, patient care, and professional development training in the private, state, and federal government sectors. Furthermore, the researcher has served on committees and collaborated in the implementation and development of organizational policies. Prior to data analysis, the researcher considered personal biases and expectations, noting them in a journal. Acknowledging such biases prior to analysis allowed the researcher to avoid letting such expectations influence the interpretation of the data, allowing the experiences and perceptions of the participants to guide analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Palaganas et al., 2017).

Limitations

Limitations are derived from the conceptual framework and the design of the study (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Creswell and Creswell (2017) advised researchers conducting qualitative research to recognize restrictions. A limitation, as already noted, is potential researcher bias. Another limitation was the use of a questionnaire, which prohibited follow-up or probing questions, as in an interview. This limitation was mitigated by careful phrasing of questionnaire items and pilot testing of the instrument. The researcher gathered descriptions of policies and participant perceptions rather than gathering actual written organizational policies related to regulating vaping. Therefore, an assumption was respondents were aware of the organizational policies; only experienced human resources administrators were recruited. The sample was gathered through social media and was not diverse or did not represent the perceptions of all human resources administrators in the region.

Chapter 4: Findings

The participants for this qualitative dissertation study were human resources administrators with at least 2 years of experience, working in the southeastern United States. Each participant served as an active human resources administrator in their respective organization. The participants in this study ranged from ages 28 to 67 and were employed in private, public, state, and federal government organizations in the following states: Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, and Washington, D.C. Respondents worked in organizations employing between 1 and 350,000 employees. Two thirds of the respondents (n = 10) worked in organizations with fewer than 50 employees. The data collected in this qualitative dissertation study were extracted from a structured survey questionnaire comprising 16 questions about vaping and tobacco usage in the workplace (see Appendix). The participants were coded as P1 to P18.

Research Question 1: Benefits and Barriers to Workplace Vaping Regulations

The first research question addressed the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding the benefits and barriers to vaping regulations in the workplace. Human resources administrators' perceptions of vaping regarding benefits and barriers to using tobacco product usage regulations in the workplace varied by organization. P10 stated that her organization's policy regarding vaping required the activity to be only performed in a designated smoking area or outside the employment facility. Participants in smaller organizations indicated the benefits of workplace vaping policies following the same protocols as traditional smoking and tobacco usage products.

P2 stated that he was not aware of any policy regarding vaping and smoking in his

workplace. The lack of awareness and education on vaping specifically in the workplace emphasizes Steinberg et al.'s (2020) investigation on regulatory and legislative documents on developing trends in states. In extreme instances, vaping devices may include substances that are not tobacco, such as cannabis, which is an illegal substance in some states. Moreover, the research supports Kava et al. (2018), Chapman et al. (2017), and Besaratinia and Tommasi (2017), who stated organizations with effective smoking and e-cigarette usage policies are protecting the health of all employees.

Five participants stated their organization's written policy about vaping in the workplace did not directly address vaping; however, employees understood that the use of tobacco products was to be restricted to designated smoking areas. When asked about their organization's policy about workplace vaping, P10 stated that the activity was only permitted at the designated area; P11 stated that it was permitted in the outdoors only. Based on the results of the study, vaping was limited and even banned by some organizations. P1 stated that vaping and smoking was not allowed within 50 feet of a food truck, and P7 stated that vaping was prohibited in the workplace.

When asked about the barriers to effective vaping policies in the workplace, P12 stated that vaping is done in areas where it is not easy to be caught by security. When posed with the same question, P2 and P3 stated that employee resistance and failure to follow the set policies were a barrier. Yingst et al. (2019) reported similar findings. Schmidt (2019) and Kennedy et al. (2017) investigated the preferred vaping techniques and regulations used by distinct organizational leadership dynamics and found that transforming employee health behaviors takes time and discipline but has proven to beneficial to organizations and the employees' quality of life. Findings in this study

supported Sammer's (2018) statement that effective policies include restrictions on smoking and vaping, workplace smoking cessation programs, health promotions, incentives for abstaining from tobacco or vaping, and penalties.

To effectively customize rules, unique organizations may need to take into account the circumstances of certain employees. One participant pointed out the sanitation issues of smoking and vaping in food service; another stated vaping was not allowed in the lease. Medical centers or organizations serving children tended to have more strict policies. Jitnarin et al. (2021) conducted a general qualitative study on vaping use among firemen, interviewing 23 career emergency personnel. The history of consuming smokeless tobacco products, reinforcing factors, motivation to quit, hurdles, knowledge, and views on the use of smokeless products, and tobacco cessation programs offered by the organization were all topics covered in the interview questions. According to Jitnarin et al., a collaborative structure would enable the organization to establish tailored policies based on the perceptions and motivations of the firefighters.

More than half of the participants in this qualitative research study stated their organization banned smoking (or vaping) at work. This finding reflected Miller (2016), who conducted a nationwide survey of human resources personnel and found that nearly half of the organizations restricted or banned smoking at work. The smoking policy failed to correlate with organizational practices, however. Kava (2017) observed that while enforcing smoking restrictions in the workplace, organizational transformation techniques are crucial.

In 2014, the United States call to U.S. poison control centers concerning ecigarettes and vaping trends increased by 51% (Denardo & Rome, 2019). This statistic indicates that vaping and tobacco use are severe social problems. Kava et al. (2018) described vaping and tobacco usage products as detrimental and indicated organizational leaders implement smoking-cessation programs to combat tobacco-related product usage, while smoking policies prohibit using tobacco products in public areas.

In this participant pool, two human resources administrators had no written policy dictating the number and duration of smoking breaks during the work day. Generally, employers adhered to occupational laws that allow organizational team members to have one 30-minute lunch break and two 15-minute breaks during the work day. Organizations offered no additional concessions for smokers or nonsmokers to receive extra or separate breaks. Upon been asked whether organizational policies dictated the number of vaping breaks the day and if the policy differed for nonsmokers, 87% of the participants (n = 13) said that there was no difference. P4 responded, "Not specifically vaping or smoking breaks. Each employee is allowed 15 minutes in the morning and 15 minutes in the evening. So, what they choose to do with their time is on them."

Regarding benefits, one participant stated a benefit of a clear vaping policy was "the general health and welfare of all employees." One participant noted that a clear policy led to less stress for employees who wanted to vape. Several participants noted the policy at the organization was not clear enough, which left interpretation up to the employee. Unclear or noncomprehensive policies are ineffective. The literature needs more information on the barriers to effective vaping policies in the workplace, prevention practices and intervention strategies utilized by professionals, or how organizational culture impacts prevention and intervention.

Research Question 2: Workplace Policies Providing Penalties or Incentives

The second research question addressed the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding workplace policies providing penalties or incentives to discourage vaping. The role of human resources administrators in influencing compliance or noncompliance with the utilization of vaping and tobacco products policies can be viewed as one aspect of social norms in the southeastern United States. Six participants said there were no penalties for breaking vaping policies.

Five participants stated smoking or vaping increased insurance costs, whether medical or life insurance. When asked about the penalties for vaping, P15 responded, "Life insurance rates are higher for smokers according to the number of years of smoking and results of lab results." P12 stated that employees who vaped had higher insurance premiums that those who did not.

Most participants reported the only penalties or surcharges applied to employees who vape, such as higher insurance premiums for smokers and users of tobacco products, were not penalties directly from the organization. Only two participants stated penalties could include suspension. P1 stated the penalties for vaping within 50 feet of a food truck included a warning for first offense, 1-day suspension for second offense, and termination for third offense.

Twelve participants stated no incentives were given for quitting tobacco or vaping. A few referenced reduced insurance costs. One said employees who quit smoking or vaping received a gift card. Researchers Kava et al. (2018), Chapman et al. (2017), and Besaratinia and Tommasi (2017) cautioned that only about half of organizations have effective smoking and e-cigarette policies.

Research Question 3: Inclusion of Employee Health in Organizational Mission

The third research question addressed the perceptions of human resource administrators regarding the inclusion of employee health as part of the organizational mission statement and goals. Only five participants reported a mission statement related to employee health. P2 responded, "We are encouraged to get up and walk while we are at home, as well as when we are in the office. There have also been organized walks for the entire workforce to get up and go outside together." A significant finding was the lack of organizational mission statements including employee health. More than half of the participants agreed as per the CDC (2018) smoking-cessation programs offered resources on quitting and comprehensive programs that included workshops, meetups, conventional and unconventional strategies, and skill-building assistance.

Moreover, the CDC (2018) was the most common resource organization for obtaining the best approaches, including tobacco- or smoke-free policies and affording organizational team members with supportive resources, including counseling, hotlines, and medications free of charge to improve their overall quality of life. Although the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d.) concurred, suggesting smoking-cessation programs to include resources for both individual and group counseling, in-person training, and medication, one participant conveyed that their organization lacked many programs to support employees. The participant stated the organization is a small business, and employees make high earnings on commission-based products but often sacrifice benefits and programs to support them holistically. The CDC (2020) identified a Tobacco-Use Cessation workplace health model to guide the organization of effective policies, programs and campaigns, recommended strategies, and other resources for consumers and health professionals.

Furthermore, the CDC cautions organizations that healthy employees are more likely to have employees, increasing the likelihood of employee retention. Employee health inclusion methods are critical for organizations. Moreover, according to Pippard (2017), mental health, behavioral awareness, and overall well-being decrease preventable disabilities and early causes of death in the United States.

Research Question 4: Employee Wellness Programs

The fourth research question addressed how human resource administrators perceived employee wellness programs or smoking-cessation programs as vaping policies. For example, the CDC (2023a) offers a school employee wellness staff model for fostering the physical and mental health of school employees. Six respondents stated their organization did not offer any wellness program. One said walks, yoga, and counseling were offered. Participants conveyed the implementation of employee wellness programs that support work–life balance and the holistic individual. One participant identified time allocated by the organization in the workday as a corporate space for healing.

In this qualitative dissertation study, state and federal governments employed more than half of the participants. According to Miller (2016), the Affordable Care Act assists organizations with providing employee incentives for participation in wellness programs. Several participants noted wellness programs were offered through the company medical insurance. Participants employed in state and federal governments noted incentives were reduced health insurance costs. Human resources administrators of these organizations reported extensive resources available to all organizational team members, including interns and temporary employees, and many programs are available for family members of the team members in organizations.

One of the primary wellness programs offered by county, state, and federal government organizations for employees is the EAP, referenced by five respondents. The EAP is a free support resource available to all government employees. The EAP offers sessions with licensed or credentialed counselors on various topics to assist employees and their families with counseling in grief, workplace stress, drug or alcohol addiction, behavioral health, legal assistance, financial management service, and emotional wellbeing. One participant noted the EAP at their organization allowed each employee and their household members to receive six free sessions. EAP counselors can provide referrals for help beyond the six sessions based on organizational team member needs, insurance coverage, location, and financial resources. The wellness programs encourage healthy lifestyle changes the program manages externally. The EAP offers smokingcessation programs in multiple formats, such as self-paced and instructor-led counseling support. All wellness and smoking-cessation programs are maintained and evaluated under the CDC and community-based partnerships. The EAP allows organization leaders to leverage EAP support to organizational team members through services to assist team members in managing crises, identifying when assistance is needed, managing change, referring team members to the EAP, managing stress, and effective communication.

When asked about the kind of smoking cessation program offered by their respective organizations, six respondents said none. P7 responded that group and individual counseling was available. P4 described multiple classes and programs through the EAP.

State and federal governments combine health, wellness, and financial programs for health care, leadership, and financial support are necessary for effective wellness programs (CDC, 2018; Graham et al., 2020; U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.). Flexible spending accounts used to pay for qualified medical and health care expenses not covered by federal employees' health benefits, limited expense health care, and flexible spending accounts programs need continual assessment to ensure they remain topical and up to date. Participants said wellness programs were evaluated annually by different departments or through employee suggestions.

Summary

In this chapter, the researcher presented findings from a questionnaire on the perceptions and policies related to workplace vaping and tobacco usage. The participants were 18 human resource administrators in the southeastern United States who had at least 2 years of experience as a human resources administrator. During the study, structured survey questionnaires were used to collect qualitative data from the participants, who were identified as P1 to P18.

The findings indicated varying perceptions on vaping regulations among the participants. Different organizations held different policies about vaping and smoking. While some allowed vaping only in designated places, others prohibited the activity. Penalties for vaping and smoking were mostly related to increased insurance premiums. Hence in some organizations, nonsmokers received incentives such as reduced insurance premiums. Nearly no organizations have established mission statements inclusive of employee health. The majority of organizations had some sort of wellness program aimed at supporting work-life balance and overall health. Government organizations also have taken the initiative of offering wellness programs inclusive of smoking-cessation support. The EAP is a free support resource available to all government employees and offers sessions with licensed or credentialed counselors on various topics and challenges. The next chapter discusses implications of the study findings.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Overview of the Study

This researcher compared responses from each questionnaire in this generic qualitative dissertation research study. This chapter will include discussion of findings and their implications, conclusions, the limitations, future research recommendations, and the researcher's next steps. The problem addressed by this study is the prevalence of employee vaping and its adverse impact on organization, including rising costs, diminished productivity, employee health issues, and the lack of regulatory guidance for preferred workplace policies (Asay et al., 2016; Mache et al., 2019; Romberg et al., 2021; Tabuchi & Colwell, 2016). The purpose of this qualitative dissertation study was to assess organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. Respondents were 18 human resource administrators from 11 states in the southeastern United States. The findings demonstrated that vaping and the use of tobacco products in the workplace were normal in work environments with designated areas for smoking but not typical in workplaces with tobacco-free campuses. The researcher found that most organizational policies were not specific to vaping and often were not clear or comprehensive enough. In essence, the goal is to respect the workspace and the well-being of others around the workspace, but vague or inadequately communicated policies resulted in employees interpreting the policies differently. Additional commonalities in the data included a lack of penalties for breaking vaping policies, no incentives given for tobacco cessation, no inclusion of employee health as part of the organizational mission statement, and a lack of employee wellness programs.

Implications and Findings

In this qualitative research study, participants were asked to convey their understanding of the organization's policy on vaping. A few referenced general smoking or tobacco-free campus policies, and others said policies needed to be more particular about vaping or electronic devices. The organizational policies against vaping, smoking, and using tobacco products in the workplace support the warnings by Whitsel et al. (2015) that vaping and smoking affect organizations by negatively affecting employee health, decreasing workplace safety, and reducing productivity. Participants in this qualitative research study survey gave answers supporting Whistle et al.'s cautionary measures and health concerns regarding vaping, smoking, and tobacco usage in the workplace. Participants noted the benefits of vaping policy included employee health, supporting earlier research (Besaratinia & Tommasi, 2017; Chapman et al., 2017; Kava et al., 2018).

Additionally, participants in state and federal governments supported strict policies, mirroring Romberg et al.'s (2021) findings that organizational team members vaping, smoking, or using tobacco products in workplace common areas, bathrooms, and designated break areas would disrupt the organization. Therefore, these behaviors are forbidden on government campuses. Asay et al. (2016) and Sammer (2018) reported health problems, absenteeism, smoke breaks, and potential conflicts with nonsmokers led vaping to reduce productivity in the workplace. Over half of the participants concurred that using vaping and tobacco products in the work environment should be discouraged and aligned with tobacco-free campus policies.

Barton et al. (2020) stated vaping, like smoking, affects indoor air quality and is a

hazard to others. Chatterjee et al. (2018) tested the hypothesis that nicotine content exposes users to toxins similar to those in other tobacco-related products like cigarettes. Yingst et al. (2019) and Steinberg et al. (2020) indicated that a history of addiction impacted individual tolerance levels, occasion, and recreational usage. Additionally, most human resources administrators supported research on the health effects of smoking, vaping, and the utilization of tobacco products occurred at a tremendous rate. An in-depth understanding should be utilized when measuring the significant exhalation of nicotine and propylene glycol into the atmosphere. Therefore, employee wellness programs providing counseling and help with tobacco cessation are an important policy. According to Pippard and Shipley (2017) and Chatterjee et al., incorporating education about the transition of conventional cigarette smoking to vaping is important. Therefore, research supports that e-cigarettes assist users in continuing previous habits as opposed to quitting, although e-cigarettes and vaping devices are often utilized in attempts at smoking cessation (Etter, 2018).

Additionally, the research further identified how employee vaping in the workplace negatively influenced the business. Chatterjee et al.'s (2018) hypothesis that nicotine content exposes users to toxins similar to those in other tobacco-related products like cigarettes supports this viewpoint. Furthermore, organizations should ban workplace vaping and tobacco usage from benefiting public health. Organization members were adamant about vaping and using tobacco products in designated smoking areas during their entitled breaks. Various organizations in the southeastern region of the United States align with indoor air quality and human resources administrators' organizational culture.

The change-management ADKAR model may offer guidance to understanding

the reasons employees continue to use vaping and tobacco products and thereby inform policies by human resources administrators. The ADKAR model combines change management with the understanding for the need to manage change at the individual level. This model assists people, especially change leaders, to recognize that successful change needs more than information and training. Change management entails influencing the attitudes, beliefs and behaviors of employees to establish a lasting transformation in the practices of the organization (Hiatt, 2006). Policies thus should include a variety of cessation programs for individuals to quit tobacco use. The mission statement of the organization should include employee health. In this generic qualitative research study on human resources administrators and vaping in the workplace, the Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) ADKAR model is congruent, pertinent, significant, and applicable to organizational leadership and the complexity leadership theory developed. Mendes et al. (2016) and Al Rahbi et al. Further, this qualitative study highlighted Jones-Schenk (2019), Karambelkar and Bhattacharya (2017), and Hiatt by distinguishing change management in the confines of organizational leadership that emphasizes required methodologies centered on individuals. Moreover, this study demonstrates how factors such as the Robbins et al. (2016) and Jones-Schenk (2019) method of identifying change management is an integral and necessary component of organizational leadership to analyze data and trends, facilitate the direction, raise awareness and formulate the groundwork for an organization to employ change.

Conclusion

This generic qualitative dissertation study assessed organizational policies to determine preferred practices to regulate vaping in the work environment. The research

questions explored human resource administrators' perceptions of organizational policies currently implemented and investigated potential barriers to policies regulating vaping and the utilization of tobacco products in the workplace. Findings in this study supported Sammer's (2018) finding that effective policies include restrictions on smoking and vaping, workplace smoking-cessation programs, health promotions, incentives for abstaining from tobacco or vaping, and penalties for violating smoking or vaping policies. Wellness programs may include smoking cessation incentives internally or offered through community services (CDC, 2018). Participants in the current study referenced EAPs as well as wellness programs through medical insurance. Organizations with best practices comprise a mission statement or annual goals related to the program reflecting the complexity of social interaction and behavioral compliance with smokefree policies (CDC, n.d.).

Furthermore, coping mechanisms related to the stress of the job, social influences, and positive perceptions of smokeless tobacco products should be discussed more on tobacco-free campuses. Wellness programs provide information on changing one's lifestyle to include health practices without tobacco (Miller, 2016; Sammer, 2018). The CDC (2018) noted the importance of comprehensive wellness programs to help employees make lifestyle changes. Vaping is dangerous to users as well as bystanders and disrupts work environments; the practice must be governed by organizational leaders. Participants identified the benefit of wellness programs and EAPs recommended by the CDC (n.d.) to assist organizational team members with health, social services, behavior services, and many other resources. Chatterjee et al. (2018) reported that organizational team members vaping and utilizing tobacco products in the workplace negatively affected the organization and was a disruption. Mendes et al. (2016) stated vaping was not only a disruption but also negatively affected employee psychological and physical health. For example, employee wellness problems may produce multifaceted burdens on organizations by decreasing team motivation (Al Rahbi et al., 2017). Furthermore, the researcher discovered that only two of the 18 respondents reported organization-level penalties, such as suspension, for violating vaping prohibitions. Not all employees caught vaping on the job in organizations with tobacco-free campuses are thus accountable to the organization, leveraging theoretical knowledge about social norms and empirical findings about workplace influence.

According to researchers (Levy, Warner, et al., 2019; Levy, Yuan, et al., 2019), readers should notice that the phenomenon of vaping has generated public health awareness and education of electronic nicotine-delivery systems and other tobaccorelated products and continues to impact the workplace and the overall population. Moreover, Sammer (2018) provided guidance and interventional methods for human resources administrators and organizational leaders regarding the most effective smoking-cessation programs using technology for self-directed online education, coaching through various videoconferencing platforms, and network social services. According to research, organizational regulations banning vaping could substantially decrease the risk of EVALI caused by workplace exposure (Mendes et al., 2016). Current organizational policies regarding tobacco use should be evaluated to include vaping.

Limitations

Participants were recruited on Facebook, Instagram, or LinkedIn sites. While completing this qualitative research study, the researcher identified limitations, which may generate a need for future research. The first limitation is that the researcher obtained data by recruiting a diverse sample from one region in the United States. Therefore, the transferability of the findings may be limited. The data are not reflective of the entire U.S. population of human resource administrators.

Another limitation was the use of a questionnaire, without follow-up or probing questions, as in an interview. This limitation was mitigated by careful phrasing of questionnaire items and pilot testing of the instrument. Finally, the researcher gathered descriptions of policies and participant perceptions rather than gathering actual written organizational policies related to regulating vaping. According to (Levy, Warner, et al. 2019; Levy, Yuan, et al., 2019), readers should notice that the phenomenon of vaping has generated public health awareness and education of electronic nicotine-delivery systems and other tobacco-related products and continues to impact the workplace and the overall population. Moreover, Sammer (2018) provided guidance and interventional methods for human resources administrators and organizational leaders regarding the most effective smoking cessation programs using technology for self-directed online education, coaching through various video conferencing platforms, and network social services.

Additionally, regulations are continually changing, both federal and state level. Research is developing on the topic of vaping in the workplace. Continued research is needed to align with current state regulations.

Suggestions for Future Research

This generic qualitative guided study could provide an opportunity to provide insight into organizational policy implementation and change management processes. Future research is recommended to gather information from organizational policymaking officials and leaders alike. This qualitative dissertation study was limited to 18 human resource administrators in the southeastern United States. Research is needed in more areas and with larger samples. Additionally, the simple knowledge and awareness of organizational policies against vaping and tobacco utilization may not affect social behaviors among all employees; some respondents noted a barrier to effective policies was employee resistance or rule breaking. The organizational leaders could focus on organizational policy conversations with the human resources administrators to enhance, implement, or influence change management.

Moreover, by reflecting on support, policies on the utilization of vaping and tobacco products may become more effective. Incorporating buy-in from organizational leaders, human resources administration, organizational team members, stakeholders, and public health officials may enhance the well-being of their constituencies. Implementing community forums promotes organizational teams where the members are responsible and do not utilize tobacco and vaping products near others. It encourages all public health policymakers and organizational leaders to protect their organizational members and enhance their quality of life. The recommendation for future exploration will be informative and interesting to gain more knowledge to investigate further the impetus for inventing e-cigarettes and the impact of vaping on the organization.

An organizational policy without specified indoor vaping places was the end

consequence. Politics were likely to be vital to determining whether the use of vaping and tobacco products policies in the Southeast of the United States fully succeeded or failed, just as it was with the adoption of the administrative policy. E-cigarettes have been referred to as a gateway to taking other drugs, such as marijuana and other recreational drugs. This is particularly true in the southeastern United States (Gartner, 2018; Levy, Warner, et al., 2019; Yingst et al., 2019). The dissertation's findings emphasized a few elements of the first three-plus decades of this process. A comprehensive case study could offer advice on how other workplaces in the Southeast of the United States potentially follow through with similar rules regarding the use of tobacco and vaping devices. According to research, organizational regulations banning vaping could substantially decrease the risk of EVALI caused by workplace exposure.

Any changes to the organizational leaders would also be considered external subsystem events. The power dynamics relating to vaping and tobacco policies may change due to this choice and any subsequent modifications. This might impact the funding for public education initiatives and prompt a revision of the rules governing designated vaping locations. Future studies that are based on additional polls and an examination of mainstream media outlets might be helpful to the archiving and interpretation of politics in the United States. What are the views of other local organization leaders and organizational leaders in the Southeast of the United States? Due to the limitations and sensitivities of approaching this group as an outsider, the researcher could have been more effective in questioning workplace leaders. The researcher obtained surveys with organizational leaders from the southeast United States chapters of human resources administrators and organizational members attributable to the networking and diligence of the southeastern United States colleagues. Human resources administrators vigorously supported the implementation of tobacco and vaping policies and incorporated change management to enhance organizations in the United States. However, many organizational policies still need to be included in smoking and tobacco usage policies that specify the use of e-cigarettes. The human resources administrators demonstrated that organizational team members should abide by these policies regarding vaping and tobacco products, which will address expectations for all organizational team members. As a future research question about the southeastern region of the United States, it could be helpful to engage in dialogue with local organizational members and conduct questionnaires, interviews, and community practices to evolve the organization and to educate organizational team members and organizational leadership of their roles and expectations in the workplace. In reviewing prior mentioned pieces of information, the chair of the template committee, community practice leaders for organizational policy and change management processes, and a human resources administrator stated that businesses wanted to replace the tobacco industry in the Southeast of the United States with a white e-cigarette or vaping device or for other commercial reasons. Conducting community seminars, writing publications, and participating in similar conversations critical to state and federal governmental tobacco control initiatives would be beneficial. In addition to disclosing this conflict of interest and debunking misconceptions, the research could investigate whether tobacco industry funding has been utilized to support any of these materials. Human resources administrators' concerns must be available for all organizational team members. According to Yingst et al. (2019) and Kava et al. (2018), policymakers should consider user nicotine addiction while enacting policies

forbidding vaping and tobacco products at the workplace. Policies should be combined with wellness and cessation programs, as well as incentives for employees to quit vaping. Further qualitative research is needed to allow more in-depth information to be gathered. A comprehensive case study of an organization implementing an effective vaping policy combined with resources could offer a model on how other workplaces could change workplace environments to prevent vaping and promote health.

Researcher's Next Steps

This general qualitative dissertation study examined human resource administrators' perceptions of organizational policies to discover the most effective techniques for regulating workplace vaping. Much of humanity still needs to be safeguarded through extensive, strictly implemented free-of-tobacco laws. The literature review and research described here point to several ways focused research might enhance how tobacco and e-cigarette policies are used in organizational structures. Expanding this qualitative research requires an additional questionnaire analysis to gather data specifically related to vaping alone. In the two years since the election, policies

governing the use of e-cigarettes and tobacco products have moved forward, especially following the transition from an incumbent to a new mayor. This study could involve conducting surveys with local business leaders to determine their views on tobacco use and their support of vaping and tobacco product legislation. Second, future studies should work to create theoretically informed, community-tested public relations campaigns that promote the prohibition of tobacco and e-cigarette regulations in workplaces in the United States. The researcher aims to investigate the potential outcomes of including an additional sign alongside the officially required signs, targeting the following: The population's health is safeguarded in all public spaces by state and federal organizational policies that any individual witnessing a violation should request that all tobacco users stop. Beyond the themes of these signs, communication campaigns in the Southeast of the United States should emphasize informing people that the organizational policy exists and is in effect and enticing them to hold tobacco users and human resources administrators accountable for adhering to the administrative procedure. To promote workplace policies in the United States and worldwide, the researcher plans to investigate organizational policy implementation and change management approaches in greater depth. According to the questionnaire themes in this study, the marketing effort might advise staff to treat others with respect, compassion, and consideration. Employees could receive messages prompting them to speak up to prevent their family members from the risks of smoke.

Furthermore, a study in the United States focused on new limits on tobacco use in the workplace to enact organizational policies with comprehensive instructions on various vaping and tobacco products. These many policies' potential interconnections and impacts were viewed. Finally, give a complete summary of these qualitative findings by analyzing how the organizational approach in the Southeast of the United States contrasts with the experiences from other cities and workplaces in the United States. The use of vaping and tobacco product policies, alongside other tobacco control measures, required the managerial skills of human resources administrators. Future work could include surveys with business leaders to learn about vaping policies, public relations campaigns to discourage vaping, and efforts to encourage businesses to create clear wellness policies that are communicated to all employees.

References

- Agustin, M., Yamamoto, M., Cabrera, F., & Eusebio, R. (2018). Diffuse alveolar hemorrhage induced by vaping. *Case Reports in Pulmonology*, 2018, Article 9724530. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9724530
- Al Rahbi, D., Khalid, K., & Khan, M. (2017). The effects of leadership styles on team motivation. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, *16*(3), 1–14.
- Alexander, S. (2023). Stopping the vapor of death: Implementing a vaping cessation protocol in an emergency department [Doctoral dissertation, University of Alabama]. https://ir.ua.edu/handle/123456789/9829
- American Cancer Society. (2021). American Cancer Society position statement on electronic cigarettes. https://www.cancer.org/healthy/stay-away-from-tobacco/ecigarettes-vaping/e-cigarette-position-statement.html
- Asay, G. R. B., Roy, K., Lang, J. E., Payne, R. L., & Howard, D. H. (2016). Absenteeism and employer costs associated with chronic diseases and health risk factors in the US workforce. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *13*, Article 150503. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd13.150503
- Barton, B., Spicer, K., & Byrd, T. (2020). E-cigarettes in the workplace: The impact on company alcohol & drug policies. *Professional Safety*, 65(9), 24–31.
- Besaratinia, A., & Tommasi, S. (2017). An opportune and unique research to evaluate the public health impact of electronic cigarettes. *Cancer Causes & Control, 28*(10), 1167–1171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-017-0952-5
- Blount, B. C., Karwowski, M. P., Shields, P. G., Morel-Espinosa, M., Valentin-Blasini, L., Gardner, M., Braselton, M., Brosius, C. R., Caron, K. T., Chambers, D.,

Corstvet, J., Cowan, E., De Jesús, V. R., Espinosa, P., Fernandez, C., Holder, C., Kuklenyik, Z., Kusovschi, J. D., Newman, C., & Reis, G. B. (2020). Vitamin E acetate in bronchoalveolar-bavage fluid associated with EVALI. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(8), 697–705. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1916433

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13*(2), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846

Brinkmann, S., & Kvale, S. (2019). *Doing interviews: The SAGE qualitative research kit* (2nd ed.). SAGE

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Workplace health in America 2017*. https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/data-surveillance/docs/2017-Workplace-Health-in-America-Summary-Report-FINAL-updated-508.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b). *Tobacco-use cessation*. https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/tools-resources/workplacehealth/tobacco-use-cessation.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). *Electronic cigarettes*. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic information/e-cigarettes/index.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b). *Outbreak of lung injury associated* with the use of e-cigarette, or vaping, products.

https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023a). School employee wellness.

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/employee_wellness.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023b). *State Tobacco Activities Tracking and Evaluation (STATE) System e-cigarette fact sheet.*

https://www.cdc.gov/statesystem/factsheets/ecigarette/ECigarette.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). *Workplace health site visit interview questions*.

https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/pdf/WorkplaceHealthInterviewQ uestions.pdf

- Chapman, S., Daube, M., & Maziak, W. (2017). Should e-cigarette use be permitted in smoke-free public places? No. *Tobacco Control*, 26(e1), e3–e4. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053359
- Chatterjee, K., Alzghoul, B., Innabi, A., & Meena, N. (2018). Is vaping a gateway to smoking: A review of the longitudinal studies. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 30(3), 1972–1986. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh-2016-0033
- Coles, M. (2019). Impact of smoking cessation education on workplace wellness [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. Walden University ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=7690&context=diss ertations
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. (2019). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (6th ed.). Pearson

Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE.

Denardo, P., & Rome, E. (2019). Vaping: The new wave of nicotine addiction. Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine, 86(12), 789–798. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.86a.19118

Etter, J. (2018). Gateway effects and electronic cigarettes. Addiction, 113(10), 1776-

1783. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13924

- Etter, J. (2019). Are long-term vapers interested in vaping cessation support? *Addiction*, *114*(8), 1473–1477. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14595
- Fosslien, L., & Duffy, M. W. (2020, April 29). How to combat Zoom fatigue. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2020/04/how-to-combat-zoom-fatigue
- Galvan, J., & Galvan, M. (2017). Writing literature reviews: A guide for students of the social and behavioral sciences (7th ed.). Routledge.
- Gartner, C. E. (2018). E-cigarettes and youth smoking: Be alert but not alarmed. *Tobacco Control, 27*(4), 359. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2017-054002
- Graham, A. L., Amato, M. S., Jacobs, M. A., Romberg, A. R., Diaz, M. C., Rahman, B., & Schillo, B. A. (2020). Vaping in the workplace: Implications for employer-spondered tobacco cessation programs. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 62(12), 986–992.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002013
- Hiatt, J. M. (2006). *ADKAR: A model for change in business, government and our community.* Prosci Research.

Jitnarin, N., Poston, W. S. C., Jahnke, S. A., Haddock, C. K., Kelley, H. N., & Severson,

H. H. (2021). A qualitative study to assess perceptions, barriers, and motivators supporting smokeless tobacco cessation in the U.S. fire service. *PLoS One*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251128

- Jones-Schenk, J. (2019). 70% failure rate: An imperative for better change management. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 50(4), 148–149. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20190319-03
- Karambelkar, M., & Bhattacharya, S. (2017). Onboarding is a change. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, 25(7), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-04-2017-0073
- Kava, C. M. (2017). Organizational level factors and their association with smokingrelated initiatives and outcomes at small and verry small workplaces [Doctoral dissertation, University of Iowa] (Publication No. 10638950). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Kava, C. M., Parker, E. A., Baquero, B., Curry, S. J., Gilbert, P. A., Sauder, M., & Sewell, D. K. (2018). A qualitative assessment of the smoking policies and cessation activities at smaller workplaces. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), Article 1094. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6001-9
- Keane, H., Weier, M., Fraser, D., & Gartner, C. (2017). 'Anytime, anywhere': Vaping as social practice. *Critical Public Health*, 27(4), 465–476. https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2016.12508679
- Kennedy, R. D., Awopegba, A., De León, E., & Cohen, J. E. (2017). Global approaches to regulating electronic cigarettes. *Tobacco Control*, 26(4), 440–445. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053179

- Levy, D. T., Warner, K. E., Cummings, K. M., Hammond, D., Kuo, C., Fong, G. T., & Borland, R. (2019). Examining the relationship of vaping to smoking initiation among US youth and young adults: A reality check. *Tobacco Control, 28*(6), 629– 635. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054446
- Levy, D. T., Yuan, Z., Li, Y., Alberg, A. J., & Cummings, K. M. (2019). A modeling approach to gauging the effects of nicotine vaping product use on cessation from cigarettes: What do we know, what do we need to know? *Addiction*, *114*(S1), 86– 96. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14530
- Mache, S., Vitzthum, K., Groneberg, D. A., & Harth, V. (2019). Effects of a multibehavioral health promotion program at worksite on smoking patterns and quit behavior. *Work*, 62(4), 543–551. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-192889

Marshall, C., Ross, G., (2016). Designing Qualitative Research, (6th ed), Sage

- Mendes, M., Gomes, C., Marques-Quinteiro, P., Lind, P., & Curral, L. (2016). Promoting learning and innovation in organizations through complexity leadership theory.
 Team Performance Management, 22(5), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-02-2016-0004
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2019). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Miller, S. (2016, January 14). SHRM survey uncovers ways to reduce smoking at work: Written policies are now more likely to address vaping. Society for Human Resource Management. https://www.shrm.org/ResourcesAndTools/hr-

topics/benefits/Pages/smoking-policies.aspx

- Nagele-Piazza, L. (2019, January 7). *How are you handling vaping at work?* SHRM. https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/legal-and-compliance/state-and-localupdates/pages/how-are-you-handling-vaping-at-work.aspx
- Naranjo-Gil, D. (2016). The role of management control systems and top teams in implementing environmental sustainability policies. *Sustainability*, 8(4), Article 359. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8040359
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *Public health consequences of e-cigarettes*. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/24952/public-healthconsequences-of-e-cigarettes
- National Institute for Occupational Safety. (2023, June 6). *Tobacco in the workplace*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/tobacco/default.html</u>
- Palaganas, E. C., Sanchez, M. C., Molintas, M. V. P., & Caricativo, R. D. (2017).
 Reflexivity in qualitative research: A journal of learning. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(2), 426–438. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2552
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2097
- Pippard, B. J., & Shipley, M. D. (2017). Healthcare staff attitudes towards the use of electronic cigarettes ('e-cigarettes') compared with a local trust policy. *Perspectives in Public Health, 137*(4), 216–219.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913916659311

Prosci Inc. (2023). The Prosci ADKAR Model. https://www.prosci.com/change-

management

Ramachandran, V. (2020, February 23). Stanford researchers identify four causes for'Zoom fatigue' and their simple fixes. *Stanford News*.

https://news.stanford.edu/2021/02/23/four-causes-zoom-fatigue-solutions/

- Ranpara, A., Stefaniak, A. B., Fernandez, E., & LeBouf, R. F. (2021). Effect of puffing behavior on particle size distributions and respiratory depositions from pod-style electronic cigarette, or vaping, products. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, Article 750402. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.750402/full
- Risi, S. (2017). On the origins of the electronic cigarette: British American Tobacco's Project Ariel (1962–1967). *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(7), 1060– 1067. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303806
- Robbins, S. P., DeCenzo, D. A., & Wolter, R. M. (2016). *Supervision today* (8th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Romberg, A. R., Diaz, M. C., Briggs, J., Stephens, D. K., Rahman, B., Graham, A. L., & Schillo, B. A. (2021). Vaping in the workplace: Prevalence and attitudes among employed US adults. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 63(1), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002061

Saldaña, J. (2015). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). SAGE.

Sammer, J. (2018, October 29). Employer incentives encourage employees to quit smoking. Society for Human Resource Management. https://www.shrm.org/hrtoday/news/hr-magazine/1118/pages/employer-incentives-encourage-employeesto-quit-smoking.aspx

Saracho, O. N. (2017). Writing and publishing qualitative studies in early childhood

education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-016-0794-x

Schmidt, H. (2019). Personal responsibility for health: Conceptual clarity, and fairness in policy and practice. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 45(10), 648–649. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2019-105686

Steinberg, J., Unger, J. B., Hallett, C., Williams, E., Baezconde-Garbanati, L., & Cousineau, M. R. (2020). A tobacco control framework for regulating public consumption of cannabis: Multistate analysis and policy implications. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110(2), 203–208. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305423

Tabuchi, T., & Colwell, B. (2016). Disparity and trends in secondhand smoke exposure among Japanese employees, particularly smokers vs. non-smokers. *PLoS One, 11*(4), Article e0152096. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152096

Thebarge, J., Reith, M., & Henry, W. (2022, March 17–18). Increasing industry profitability and cyber hygiene utilizing awareness progression methods.
In *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Cyber Warfare and Security* (pp. 325–332). ACI. https://doi.org/10.34190/iccws.17.1.47

- Tobacco Control Network. (2016). 2016 policy recommendations guide. http://tobaccocontrolnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/TCN-2016-Policy-Recommendations-Guide.pdf
- Uhl-Bien, M., Marion, R., & McKelvey, B. (2007). Complexity leadership theory:
 Shifting leadership from the industrial age to the knowledge era. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 18(4), 298–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.04.002

U.S. Fire Administration. (2017). *Electronic cigarette fires and explosions in the United States 2009–2016.*

https://www.usfa.fema.gov/downloads/pdf/publications/electronic_cigarettes.pdf

- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). *Policy, data, oversight: Work-life.* https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/worklife/reference-materials/tobaccocessation-guidance-on-establishing-programs-designed-to-help-employees-stopusing-tobacco
- Werner, A. K., Koumans, E. H., Chatham-Stephens, K., Salvatore, P. P., Armatas, C.,
 Byers, P., Clark, C. R., Ghinai, I., Holzbauer, S. M., Navarette, K. A., Danielson,
 M. L., Ellington, S., Moritz, E. D., Petersen, E. E., Kiernan, E. A., Baldwin, G. T.,
 Briss, P., Jones, C. M., King, B. A., & Krishnasamy, V. (2020). Hospitalizations
 and deaths associated with EVALI. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(17),
 1589–1598. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1915314
- Whitsel, L. P., Benowitz, N., Bhatnagar, A., Bullen, C., Goldstein, F., Matthias-Gray, L., Grossmeier, J., Harris, J., Isaac, F., Loeppke, R., Manley, M., Moseley, K., Niemiec, T., O'Brien, V., Palma-Davis, L., Pronk, N., Pshock, J., Stave, G. M., & Terry, P. (2015). Guidance to employers on integrating e-cigarettes electronic nicotine delivery systems into tobacco worksite policy. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *57*(3), 334–343. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000000420
- Wold, L. E., Tarran, R., Crotty Alexander, L. E., Hamburg, N. M., Kheradmand, F., St.
 Helen, G., Wu, J. C., American Heart Association Council on Basic
 Cardiovascular Sciences; Council on Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular

Biology; Council on Hypertension; & Stroke Council. (2022). Cardiopulmonary consequences of vaping in adolescents: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation Research*, *131*(3), e70–e82. https://doi.org/10.1161/RES.000000000000544

Yingst, J. M., Lester, C., Veldheer, S., Allen, S. I., Du, P., & Foulds, J. (2019). Ecigarette users commonly stealth vape in places where e-cigarette use is prohibited. *Tobacco Control*, 28(5), 493–497. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054432

Yost, E., & Fiester, M. (2015, March 23). Point/counterpoint: Should you ban ecigarettes in the workplace? *HR Magazine*, 60(3), 24–25. Appendix

Human Resources Administrator Questionnaire on Vaping Regulations

- Current human resources administrator in the southeastern U.S.
- ____ Two or more years of experience
- 1. Roughly how many individuals does your workplace employ?
- 2. What do you see as the need for and the benefits to policies related to vaping in the workplace?
- 3. Describe your organization's written vaping policy.
- 4. Please describe any limits or bans on vaping in the workplace. Does the organization ban vaping from the workplace? Limit smoking/vaping to specific areas? Is vaping allowed outdoors?
- 5. Does a written policy dictate the number and duration of vaping breaks during the day? Do nonsmokers receive similar breaks?
- 6. Describe-any penalties or surcharges applied to employees who vape, such as higher insurance premiums.
- 7. Describe any incentives offered to nonsmokers, such as reduced insurance premiums. What incentives are offered to smokers trying to quit, if any?
- Does your organization have a wellness or employee health mission statement? Please describe.
- 9. Describe any wellness programs offered by the organization. Wellness programs encourage healthy lifestyle changes. Is the program managed internally or externally? If

internal, how are staff chosen/trained to offer smoking cessation training or wellness guidance?

- 10. What type of smoking-cessation programs are offered? Describe the information given, skills taught, any counseling provided.
- 11. How is information about smoking-cessation or wellness programs communicated to employees? For example, signs on the wall, mailers, emails.
- 12. Describe any Employee Assistance Program offered by your organization. These programs offer mental health counseling, stress management, weight management, smoking-cessation, and more.
- 13. How are wellness and smoking-cessation programs evaluated and updated?
- 14. Does your organization partner with any health-oriented or smoking-cessation organizations in the community?
- 15. Are organizational policies different for vaping and smoking? In what way?
- 16. What are barriers to effective vaping policies in the workplace?